County Buildings, Stafford DDI (01785) 276144 Please ask for Helen Phillips Email: helen.phillips@staffordshire.gov.uk

Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee

Tuesday, 10 July 2018

10.00 am
Oak Room, County Buildings, Stafford

NB. Members are requested to ensure that their Laptops/Tablets are fully charged before the meeting

John Tradewell Director of Strategy, Governance and Change 2 July 2018

AGENDA

- 1. Apologies
- 2. **Declarations of Interest**
- 3. Minutes of the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee (Pages 1 4) meeting held on 8 June 2018
- 4. Provision of Places of Safety under Section 136 of the Mental (Pages 5 8) Health Act

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health, Care & Wellbeing

5. Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Staffordshire, to include (Pages 9 - 28) progress against the CSAF Action Plan

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children & Young People

6. Work Programme (Pages 29 - 36)

7. Exclusion of the Public

The Chairman to move:-

"That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the paragraphs of Schedule 12A (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 indicated below".

(All reports in this section are exempt)

8. Child Sexual Exploitation Learning from Reviews - Briefing Note (Pages 37 - 42)

(Exemption paragraph 7)

Committee Membership

Ann Beech Jason Jones
Mike Davies Natasha Pullen
John Francis (Chairman) Paul Snape

Syed Hussain Conor Wileman (Vice-Chairman)

Trevor Johnson Mike Worthington

Note for Members of the Press and Public

Filming of Meetings

The Open (public) section of this meeting may be filmed for live or later broadcasting or other use, and, if you are at the meeting, you may be filmed, and are deemed to have agreed to being filmed and to the use of the recording for broadcast and/or other purposes.

Recording by Press and Public

Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is permitted from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of the chairman, disrupt the meeting.

Scrutiny and Support Manager: Tina Gould Tel: (01785) 276148

Minutes of the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee Meeting held on 8 June 2018

Present: John Francis (Chairman)

Attendance

Ann Beech Natasha Pullen Mike Davies Paul Snape

Syed Hussain Conor Wileman (Vice-Chairman)

Jason Jones Mike Worthington

Apologies: Trevor Johnson and Mark Sutton

PART ONE

5. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest at this meeting.

6. Welcome

The Chairman welcomed Mrs Ann Beech and Mr Mike Davies to the Select Committee following the membership changes made at the 24 May Annual Council meeting.

7. Minutes of the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee meeting held on 23 April 2018

RESOLVED- That the minutes of the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee held on 23 April 2018 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman.

8. Staffordshire's Children's Centres

Every Local Authority in England was required to deliver Children's Centre's. Staffordshire currently had 11 children's centres with a unique delivery model, with the County Council operating the buildings themselves but the fundamental model of working through integrated delivery around the family, with greater collaboration across partnerships to meet the needs of families and their young children more effectively.

The Select Committee heard that over the last three years significant improvements had been achieved under this new model of working, in particular that there were more families accessing children's centres and services available from the centre, within the community and in the family home. Good levels of development continued to rise, being above the national average, with the majority of children starting school now being ready to learn and with 75% achieving a good level of development.

The Select Committee received details of progress following the 2015 changes made to establish a new integrated approach to early years in Staffordshire. The new approach had a particular focus on the most disadvantaged families to help reduce inequalities in child development and school readiness, supporting improved parenting aspirations, self esteem and parenting skills.

Members received details of the governance and leadership of the Children's Centres, including the role of the Family Strategic Partnership Board (FSPB). They also heard details of the Best Start Pathway which had enabled a better understanding of, and response to, any gaps which the Children's Centres should seek to deliver. There were currently two commissioned services across Staffordshire to address this, these being the Early Years Coordination Service and the Family Support Service.

Members received details of the number of families engaged with the Children's Centres and the increase in use across districts. Members shared examples of work within their division through the Children's Centres. They agreed that leadership was key to ensuring an effective centre.

In 2014 the Select Committee had considered the Best Start in Life programme which examined the approach to Early Years, including a stakeholder engagement exercise. As part of the engagement process Select Committee Members visited over forty Children's Centre sites and made recommendations to the then Cabinet Member for Children and Community Safety on their future use. Four years on from the significant changes to this service, and following on from the work the Select Committee previously undertook in 2014, it was proposed that a working group be established to consider how the changes had been implemented and the impact created. To aid consistency Members suggested that they visit two centres each, one of which should be in their own division. This would help comparisons to be made across centres. Members also suggested that a set of questions should be produced to ensure some consistency in information gathered.

It was intended that the visits should take place before the end of this academic year to avoid difficulties with attendance during school holidays.

RESOLVED – That a working group be established to consider the current work of the Children's Centres in comparison with the findings of the 2014 Select Committee Review, and the impact of the significant changes made as a result of the 2014/15 Best Start in Life consultation.

9. Elective Home Education Review

The Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) had made a referral to both the Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee and the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee in respect of their concerns over potential vulnerability of Elective Home Education (EHE) pupils in Staffordshire. Following this referral the Chairman and Vice Chairman of both Select Committees gave consideration to whether there was value in considering this issue again after elements of EHE had been considered as part of the Children Missing Out On Education Working Group in 2014. As a result of the significant increase in EHE numbers, changes to many of the reasons for pupils becoming EHE, and changes to the EHE Policy, they felt a review would be beneficial.

Mr Paul Snape, the EHE Review Group Chairman, introduced the report. He thanked all those who had been involved and in particular those who had attended the inquiry day to help inform their considerations.

Members noted that the Review Group had been impressed by the time, resource, level of commitment and dedication shown by the parents they met who had elected to home educate their children. However they noted that those choosing to home educate for lifestyle/cultural/philosophical reasons, such as the parents that attended the inquiry, had reduced over the last three years. At the same time the number home educating to avoid risk of prosecution as a result of poor attendance had increased significantly, seeing a 27.4% rise over the last five years. There had also been a rise in the number home educating as a result of near exclusion (1.2% increase) and from emotional or behavioural difficulties (1.6%).

These changes were mirrored nationally and had prompted Ofsted's National Director (Social Care) to comment that for too many children and families home education was not a positive option and led to children not receiving an effective education. The Review Group acknowledged that the majority of Staffordshire schools act in the best interests of their pupils, however they had received anecdotal evidence of parents being coerced into "choosing" to home educate to avoid prosecution and/or exclusion. They had also received case studies which evidenced instances of coercion. To help mitigate this one of their recommendations was to request the Cabinet Member make representations to Ofsted with regard to a mechanism being developed to take account of the reasons for de-registration and, where there was a disproportionately high number de-registering to EHE, consider more closely the reasons behind this.

The Review Group also considered the issue of unregistered schools. Whilst the local authority was not currently aware of any such schools within the County, they felt everyone had a responsibility to be aware of and report any concerns over potential unregistered schools.

Members noted the support given by EHE parents in helping produce the parent handbook for potential EHE parents and in training events for LA staff. They also noted and supported the County Manager, Targeted Services, in his proposal to develop an annual event to celebrate the achievements of the EHE community.

The Review Group Chairman shared his concerns over the reduced officer resource for EHE when compared with the significant increase in EHE numbers. EHE numbers had increased by two thirds whilst the officer resource had decreased by two thirds. Whilst acknowledging the financial constraints within which the County Council currently worked, the Review Group had felt that there was a need to consider ways to increase the resource to help address the significant increase in EHE numbers.

Members also noted the support for a national registration scheme for EHE pupils. Registration had been supported by the 2014 working group and was again a national issue with the current Private Members Bill introduced by Lord Soley on Home Education.

The Select Committee considered services to prevent children falling through the gaps in Early Years, looking at midwifery and health visitor services. Personal experiences were shared over how effective these services could be.

The Select Committee congratulated the Review Group on their report and endorsed the recommendations for submitting to the appropriate Cabinet Member. As this was a joint review the report needed to be considered by the Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee prior to being submitted to the Cabinet Member for his response.

RESOLVED: That the Select Committee endorse the final report and recommendations of the Elective Home Education Review and agree its submission to the appropriate Cabinet Member.

10. Work Programme

The Select Committee considered their work programme. A number of items had been suggested for inclusion following the 29 May Triangulation meeting which would be incorporated into the document. Further suggestions were made around:

- Health visitor service from a safeguarding perspective; and
- KPIs and the possible re-introduction of quarterly reports to help inform work programme items.

RESOLVED That the work programme and suggested amendments be noted.

Chairman

Local Members' Interest N/A

Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee – 10 July 2018 Provision of Places of Safety under Section 136 of the Mental Health Act

Recommendation/s

1. Provision of Place of Safety under Section 136 of the Mental Health Act

Report of Alan White, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health, Care and Wellbeing

Summary

What is the Select Committee being asked to do and why?

2. Consider allaying the concerns raised by Police and Crime Commissioner Mr Matthew Ellis. These concerns were raised by Mr Ellis as he was stating there have been significant numbers of Staffordshire citizens being picked up on a Section 136 of the Mental Health Act (police powers of arrest) and taken to police stations – rather than a health-based Place of Safety as per the Police and Crime Act expectations.

Report

Background

3. Concerns were raised about an increased potential use of Police Based Places of Safety for citizens detained under the police powers enacted under Section 136 of the Mental Health Act. These also encompassed children awaiting assessment.

Legal Position

4. Section 136 of the Mental Health Act is defined as:

'Removal etc of mentally disordered persons without a warrant'

- (1) If a person appears to a constable to be suffering from mental disorder and to be in immediate need of care or control, the constable may, if he thinks it necessary to do so in the interests of that person or for the protection of other persons—
 - (a) remove the person to a place of safety within the meaning of section 135, or
 - (b) if the person is already at a place of safety within the meaning of that section, keep the person at that place or remove the person to another place of safety.

- (1A) The power of a constable under subsection (1) may be exercised where the mentally disordered person is at any place, other than—
 - (a) any house, flat or room where that person, or any other person, is living, or
 - (b) any yard, garden, garage or outhouse that is used in connection with the house, flat or room, other than one that is also used in connection with one or more other houses, flats or rooms.
- (1B) For the purpose of exercising the power under subsection (1), a constable may enter any place where the power may be exercised, if need be by force.
- (1C) Before deciding to remove a person to, or to keep a person at, a place of safety under subsection (1), the constable must, if it is practicable to do so, consult—
 - (a) a registered medical practitioner,
 - (b) a registered nurse,
 - (c) an approved mental health professional (AMHP), or
 - (d) a person of a description specified in regulations made by the Secretary of State.
- (2) A person removed to, or kept at, a place of safety under this section may be detained there for a period not exceeding the permitted period of detention for the purpose of enabling him to be examined by a registered medical practitioner and to be interviewed by an Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) and of making any necessary arrangements for his treatment or care.
- (2A) In subsection (2), "the permitted period of detention" means—
 - (a) the period of 24 hours beginning with—
 - (i) in a case where the person is removed to a place of safety, the time when the person arrives at that place;
 - (ii)in a case where the person is kept at a place of safety, the time when the constable decides to keep the person at that place; or
 - (b) where an authorisation is given in relation to the person under section 136B, that period of 24 hours and such further period as is specified in the authorisation.
- (3) A constable, an approved mental health professional or a person authorised by either of them for the purposes of this subsection may, before the end of the permitted period of detention mentioned in subsection (2) above, take a person detained in a place of safety under that subsection to one or more other places of safety.
- (4) A person taken to a place of a safety under subsection (3) above may be detained there for a purpose mentioned in subsection (2) above for a period ending no later than the end of the permitted period of detention mentioned in that subsection.

- 5. The Police and Crime Act 2017, informed by the Crisis Care Concordat 2014 made the use of Police Stations as a 'Place of Safety' a 'never event'. Before hand, there had been a reliance of police stations as 'holding' citizens awaiting a Mental Health Act (MHA) assessment. In particular, due to a dearth of childrens 'PoS', children could be held at Police Stations. The new legislation however, enshrined an expectation that children (under 18 years old) in particular would never be held in police stations whilst a MHA assessment was coordinated.
- 6. Within Staffordshire, there are a number of routes for citizens detained under S136. The main course of action would be for a police constable/Street Triage staff to bring a citizen to a Health Based Place of safety (PoS). There are 2 Health Based PoS within Staffordshire 1 is at Harplands Hospital in Newcastle, and 1 is at St Georges Hospital in Stafford. (Previously there was also a Health Based PoS at the George Bryan Hospital in Tamworth, this has since been decommissioned).
- 7. Andy Gordon AMHP Lead for Staffordshire County Council attends the Section 136 Operational Meetings. The last meeting he attended was the 4th April 2018 and has now been co-joined with North Staffordshire the next meeting is due on 27/6/2018.
- 8. At the last meeting it was reported that since the implementation of PACA on 11th December, 2017 there had been no detentions under Section 136 in Police Custody Suites. Figures for the South at the Quality Governance Meeting (which also covers Shropshire) showed that there had been a significant decrease in the use of Section 136. Quarter 1 there were 96 episodes, Quarter 2 72 episodes, Quarter 3 71 episodes and only 47 in Quarter 4. It was acknowledged that it was still too soon to attribute this to anything concrete. There had been an increase in use of Section 136 for under 18s. (in Quarter 4 there were 9 as opposed to 6 in Quarter 3. Of the under 18s detained at St Georges (4) all were discharged to remain in the community. North Staffs confirmed on 21st March that there had been no S136s in Northern Area Custody Suite since the implementation of PACA and at a PACA meeting on the 14th May it was confirmed there had been no use of Police Custody for S136s across Staffordshire.
- 9. Currently there is no specific reporting mechanisms on outcomes following S136 and would require a manual trawl to facilitate this. There is a new pathway is in place and are aiming to be able to run off specific reports from Care Director but I would not be confident that we would achieve anything like a true picture currently. For example, 176 episodes of S136 were trawled to look specifically at intoxication and 14 episodes could not be found on Care Director, it was also time consuming. The Mental Health Law and Policy Team do not have the monthly figures for numbers of outcomes following detention under S136s as only the "raw" data (actual numbers) is available.
- 10. Just to add there was one identified incident of a potential "never event" in that on the 5th June EDS (Emergency Duty Service) were involved with a young male (under 18) detained in Police Custody. It remains unclear whether this was a S136 or PACE but the over-riding consideration is that it was PACE.
- 11. In addition, there was a PACA review on the 14th May 2018, at which point there had been no adults or children detained under S136 at a Police Station since the commencement of PACA back in December. The specifics are identified below in terms of numbers.

- a. January 17 17 assessments
- b. February 17 31 assessments
- c. March 17 28 assessments
- d. April 17 27 assessments
- e. May 17 35 assessments.

For 2018 the following data is evidenced:

- f. January 18 13 assessments
- g. February 18 13 assessments
- h. March 18 19 assessments
- i. The figures for April and May are not yet available.

Link to Strategic Plan -

12. 'Main Priority' 'Giving additional support to the most vulnerable in our communities, including children with special educational needs.'

And;

- 13. Continue to integrate health and care services and support and lead NHS reform for the benefit of Staffordshire people.
- 14. This report is an evidence to show how Staffordshire County Council is working in partnership with Staffordshire Police and our Section 75 Health Partners and the Emergency Duty Service (EDS) to ensure this additional support to the most vulnerable in our communities as evidenced by the numbers of Mental Health Act assessments for Staffordshire citizens detained under S136 of the Mental Health Act 1983/2007.

Link to Other Overview and Scrutiny Activity

15. Statutory Duties of Approved Mental Health Professionals and Staffordshire County Council over-sight in terms of partnership policies encompassing Section 136 of the Mental Health Act 1983 including Staffordshire Police, our S75 partners (who employ AMHP's) and the Emergency Duty Service (commissioned via Families First).

Community Impact – None at this time as this evidenced a reduction in actual use of S136 Powers by Police Constables.

Contact Officer

Name and Job Title: Jo Sutherland Statutory Services Lead and Principal Social Worker

Telephone No.: 01785 277432

Address/e-mail: jo.sutherland1@staffordshire.gov.uk

Appendices/Background papers

None

Local Members' Interest N/A

Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee – 10 July 2018

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Staffordshire, to include progress against the CSAF Action Plan and information regarding Revenge Porn & Youth Produced Sexual Imagery (sexting)

Recommendation

1. Members are recommended to receive the progress report which explains how the County Council is working with its partners in respect of child sexual exploitation (CSE). This report has been produced at the request of the Staffordshire's Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee and provides an update on the progress made since the report to the Committee on 26th September 2017. The Committee is asked to review future reports on a sixmonthly basis.

Report of Cllr Mark Sutton, Cabinet Member for Children and Young People

Summary

What is the Select Committee being asked to do and why?

2. The Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee should read the information set out in this progress report to provide them with a clear understanding of the developments made in this area. This will provide an opportunity to provide and promote robust member scrutiny of this activity, provide a transparent, public account of the work of partners, identify areas of good progress, and highlight key areas in need of further development via the Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Child Sexual Abuse Forum (CSAF) which is held accountable by their respective Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB).

Report

Background

3. This issue has been discussed at the Committee meetings since December 2014. CSE continues to be a priority for Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board (hereafter known as the SSCB) and its partners under their Child Sexual Abuse strategic priority. The Committee has previously requested quarterly updates to ensure that actions are being progressed. Please refer to previous reports for information on actions already reported to the Committee.

Work Progressed by the Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB)

The Child Sexual Abuse Forum (CSAF)

- 4. Both Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire LSCBs have child sexual abuse (CSA) as one of their priorities until 2021. The Child Sexual Abuse Forum (CSAF) was established by both LSCBs and their partners to share information, to coordinate and drive the work of sexual abuse and to hold agencies to account for promoting effective local working together arrangements.
- 5. Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire LSCBs continue to have quarterly joint CSAF meetings to oversee service developments in this area. To date there have been fourteen CSAF meetings which have taken place between 27th January 2015 and 15th May 2018. Staffordshire County Council took over the Chairing role from Stoke-on-Trent City Council in February 2018.
- 6. A Joint Strategic CSE coordinator for Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent was initially appointed in June 2015 and was funded by the Office for Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC) for two years. This post became vacant from the end of July 2016 until January 2017, when a new Strategic CSE coordinator for Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent was appointed. The CSE Coordinator post which was advertised amongst safeguarding partners. This temporary post was initially funded by the OPCC for twelve months; in December 2017 the decision was made to extend the post to March 2019. The post is hosted by Stoke-on-Trent City Council, with a matrix management arrangement in place between Stoke-on-Trent City Council, Staffordshire County Council, Staffordshire Police and the OPCC.
- 7. In July and August of 2017, Staffordshire Children's Social Care engaged in a Pilot 'Inspection of Children's Social Care Services'. The Inspectorate identified that strategic and operational work to manage CSE is effective and timely Staffordshire and graded Staffordshire Children's Social Care as "Good" overall.
- 8. Work on tackling Child Sexual Abuse is established in Staffordshire and safeguarding children continues to be a priority.

CSE Action Plan

- 9. Since its conception in January 2015, the Child Sexual Abuse Forum (CSAF) has continued to drive forward the work surrounding CSE (including missing children) through the delivery of its CSE action plan. The joint CSE Action Plan falls into the following four areas:
 - a. Prepare Providing strong leadership, effective systems and working with partners to tackle CSE
 - b. Prevent Raising awareness of CSE among young people, parents, carers and potential perpetrators
 - c. Protect Safeguarding young people and supporting professionals
 - d. Pursue Disrupting, arresting and prosecuting CSE offenders.

- 10. The plan sees actions separated into a yearly trajectory, with each year holding themes, these themes also reflect the pathway of the Four P's detailed above:
 - a. Year 1 PREPARE CSE Outcomes Framework, CSE Profiles, Communications
 - b. Year 2 PREVENT/PROTECT Education, Expanding Partnerships, Perception and Experience
 - c. Year 3 PROTECT/PURSUE Harmful Sexual Behaviour, Civil and Ancillary Orders, Sustainability
- 11. Whilst themes appertain to a specific year of the plan, it is important to note that work on larger projects within year three has already begun. Actions around Harmful Sexual Behaviour (HSB) are already underway, with progress against these actions sitting with a multi-agency HSB Steering Group chaired by the Stoke-on-Trent Strategic Manager for Integrated Specialist Services. The work of this group is reported into CSAF.
- 12. In April 2018 an event was held to invite partners from a variety of sectors to complete the NSPCC Harmful Sexual Behaviour Framework Audit tool. Completion of the audit is aimed at gaining an understanding of the scope and scale of HSB / HSB related issues experienced by those working with children, the knowledge and confidence of practitioners in delivering interventions and the availability of support for children and families. Full findings from the audit are expected to be available in September 2018.
- 13. The action plan has seen the creation of a multi-agency CSE communications group chaired by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator, aimed at bringing together partner messages around CSE to make most effective use of resources, ensure a continuous stream of CSE and online safety messages and to help further promote the commissioned CSE and Missing Service Catch22 to ensure practitioners are aware of how to make swift referrals. The group has developed a calendar of CSE activity with lead agency rotating amongst the group (Staffordshire County Council, Stoke-on-Trent City Council, Staffordshire Police, OPCC and Catch22)
- 14. The group delivered its first joint campaign over National CSE Awareness Day (18 March 2018). The campaign ran over four days and was led by Catch22, with content contributed towards and shared by all partners. The shared infographics reached over 450,000 social media accounts, was shared by over 10 local partner agencies, over 1000 views of peer champion video, an 800% increase on views of the promoted information and saw 5X higher engagement than any other content shared by Catch22 in 2018, making it the most successful campaign the organisation has seen nationally. Alongside this, there was a marked increase in queries from professionals in the area received by Catch22
- 15. A review of the Joint LSCB CSE Strategy is currently being undertaken by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator in consultation with partners and will be presented to the CSAF on the 20th August 2018. This review is designed to ensure that the strategy acts appropriately upon recommendations from recent inquiries and serious case reviews and aligns with the 2018-2021 SCB priorities.

16. The following information highlights the progress made by CSAF since members last received a report in September 2017.

Other forms of Child Sexual Abuse

- 17. Whilst the CSAF was established in response to the emerging profile of CSE, partner agencies wanted to ensure that we had safe arrangements for all children at risk of sexual abuse whatever form this abuse may take. Following the completion of a governance mapping exercise it was agreed that CSAF will focus upon CSE and intra-familial child sexual abuse.
- 18. Following the publication of the Government's 'Violence against Women and Girls Strategy 2016-2020' (May 2016) it was decided that governance for Female Genital Mutilation (FGM), Honour Based Violence and Forced Marriage should reside with the newly formed Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Domestic Abuse Commissioning and Development Board with all relevant inter-agency issues escalated to CSAF. The board has since developed a multi-agency Domestic Abuse Strategy and set of delivery plans to underpin its implementation
- 19. In September 2017 the Joint Safeguarding Board FGM policy was reviewed, the document was published in December 2017 and is available via the safeguarding board website
- 20. The need for a Safeguarding Joint Strategic Needs Assessment was previously identified by the SSCB and has now been in development across the county and city; this assessment includes data and information relating to CSE and FGM during 2015-2016.
- 21. The Government's review of Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB's) by Alan Wood has recommended wide-ranging reforms to multi-agency safeguarding arrangements, which will have an impact on the way that local authorities, police and health partners work together. In 2017 The Children and Social Work Act became law.
- 22. Sections 16-22 of the bill focus upon local arrangements, provisions within these sections amend the safeguarding provisions in the Children Act 2004 and set out requirements for the safeguarding partners for a LA area in England, to make arrangements the safeguarding partners, and any relevant agencies that they consider appropriate to work together in exercising their functions. The arrangements must include arrangements for the safeguarding partners to work together to identify and respond to the needs of children in their area. It has however, not been made clear when these provisions come in to force.
- 23. The Joint LSCB Child Sexual Abuse Strategy was ratified by the respective Safeguarding Children Boards in June 2016, publicly available on the SSCB website the strategy is operational across Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent.

CSE Outcomes Framework

- 24. The CSE Outcomes Framework is now being implemented across Staffordshire, overseen by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator; with data collation, analysis and reporting coordinated by the Families First Business Improvement and Development Team.
- 25. Due to the complexity involved in the implementation of the Framework, a decision was made that the Outcomes Framework should be implemented via a phased plan. Data from Staffordshire County Council, Stoke-on-Trent City Council, Staffordshire Police and Catch22 is currently reported against the framework. Quarter 1 and 2 data for the year 2017/18 was presented to CSAF in February 2018, along with a covering report highlighting challenges, progress and making recommendations for further development.
- 26. It was agreed by the Outcomes Framework Steering Group in January 2018 that the indicators within the framework should be refined, this process is currently underway, led by the Staffordshire Families First Business Improvement and Development Team.
- 27. A data officer post funded by the OPCC was recruited to in 2017; with the successful candidate taking post August 2017 for a period of 12 months.

Risk Factor Matrix

- 28. The Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent CSE risk factor matrix and associated guidance notes were reviewed and revised in July 2017 by a multi-agency task and finish group representative of both local authorities. Utilising feedback from professionals the matrix was re designed to better reflect children's voices, local risk indicators and to allow more concise information to be presented to CSE Panels and acting as a single point of referral into the commissioned CSE and Missing Service, operated by national organisation Catch22.
- 29. The revised screening tool and associated guidance notes became operational across Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent form the 1st September 2017, supporting the assessment and identification of CSE concerns and evidence risk reduction actions.
- 30. To support the launch of the revised screening tool and guidance notes a series of multi-agency workshops were delivered by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator and the Families First CSE Coordinator. These sessions were well attended by professionals from a variety of agencies and sectors; and received positive feedback on the documents and the simplified referral route into the CSE and Missing Service. Following their success, the workshops were repeated between March and June 2018, all were well attended and received positive feedback.
- 31. A review of the tools is currently underway with a view release any amended documents 1st Sept 2018. The Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator will lead the review, supported by a multi-agency task and finish group. This group will gather

feedback from frontline practitioners and will also consider feedback gained at the most recent RFM workshops and via CSE Panel review.

Communications

- 32. A comprehensive and effective communications campaign ('Know about CSE') was implemented across Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent from October 2015 to April 2016. The evaluation of this campaign was reviewed by members in January 2017.
- 33. Whilst evidence suggests that the original campaign continues to have an impact on awareness of child sexual exploitation and understanding of the 'warning signs', research has highlighted two areas of concern the impact of 'grooming parties' and young people's understanding of consent. A comprehensive consultation with 200 young people ('What Works from a Young Person's Perspective' The Children's Voice/ SCVYS) evidenced the alarmingly high number of young people that do not understand grooming, are not able to recognise risk whilst at parties and do not have the 'tools' to keep themselves safe.
- 34. Based on a comprehensive business case developed by partner communications teams, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner have financed a campaign that will:
 - a. Challenge young people's attitudes regards parties and help them to stay safe if they do attend
 - b. Support and encourage parents to talk to their children about staying safe at parties by ensuring they have the right information at the right time
 - c. Continue to impact on young people's perception that sexting is normal and to update their understanding as to the new laws
 - d. Improve young people's understanding of what constitutes consent.
- 35. A range of new materials have been developed and overseen by a multi-agency steering group chaired by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator. The product is being piloted within a school in Stoke-on-Trent over June and July; and is then scheduled to be rolled out as a wider pilot to eleven more schools; eight within Staffordshire, three within Stoke-on-Trent. There will be one pilot school per district within Staffordshire to ensure that feedback is representative of the diversity of child experiences pan Staffordshire. The Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator will seek advice from the Families First CSE Coordinator and Education Safeguarding Lead around selecting schools for whom the product will be of most benefit.
- 36. The main feature of the campaign and classroom pack is a virtual-reality video utilising 'immersive' 360-degree technology. When viewed using a smart device (smart phone, tablet etc.), the technology allows the child to physically move about a room themselves, viewing on screen what they would be seeing as they moved about the "party" environment depicted. The individual child perspective of this approach allows for more meaningful learning experiences as children initially identify risks most apparent to them; then returning to small groups to discuss and

consider safety planning around these risks. Separated by individual, group and whole class activities the package delivers messages in a variety of learning styles to suit all abilities. This campaign falls under the Prevent and Protect themes of the Joint SCB CSE Action Plan and is led by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator.

37. The video and classroom pack will also be complimented by a range of resources aimed at parents and carers; including an e-flyer around holding confident conversations about safety with their children and how to create a safety plan, short clips of the video to allow parents to discuss specific areas with their child and experience what their child has seen and a series of social media messages around signs to look out for and how to report a child missing.

Workforce and development

- 38. During April 2017- March 2018 156 professionals have been trained over two days through the SSCB Multi-agency Child Sexual Exploitation Training.
- 39. Virtual College and Pace (Parents against Child Sexual Exploitation) have provided everyone with free access to an e-learning module Keeping them Safe Protecting Children from Child Sexual Exploitation. We have put this course on our platform for everyone to access for free and 246 people have accessed this course so far.
- 40. The following offers some evidence of the impact this training has had on practitioners working with children and their families:

"We now discuss safeguarding issues on the agenda at every staff meeting. I feel more confident in challenging our way of thinking with other professionals. This has resulted in more male pupils being assessed against the CSE matrix."

"The information provided when undertaking the training enabled me to identify a number of young people accessing our service as being at potential risk of CSE and I have accessed our CSE lead and information from the intranet to pursue this matter."

"Been able to identify that the young person was at risk of CSE and put actions into place on their CP Plan and have become the CSE Champion for the team and also attend the CSE Panel meetings for our area."

Personal, social, health and economic education (PSHE)

41. A number of partners have recognised a gap in the local co-ordination and delivery of Personal, Social, Health and Economic (PSHE)and Sex and Relationships education (SRE) in schools and other educational establishments., particularly around vulnerabilities such as child sexual abuse, youth violence, prevent, fire safety, road safety, substance misuse, healthy relationships and sexual health.

- 42. Additionally, whilst there are some examples of good practice in this work area across the county, it was felt that delivery / provision is currently inconsistent. There is no single agreed approach or tools used across the city and county, with some schools receiving regular input from external agencies and others less frequently.
- 43. In other areas of the country agencies have agreed a joint strategic approach concerning this agenda. There are examples of education tools and resources being developed and adopted to cover all vulnerabilities with an agreed resource being made available to support its introduction, ongoing use and evaluation.
- 44. In October 2016, the Safer Staffordshire Strategic Board (SSSB) agreed a high-level, pan-Staffordshire, strategic vision for the delivery of vulnerability education in schools and colleges (Enclosure 1). As part of the next steps it was agreed that the respective Local Authorities would pursue the implementation through relevant education officers. Unfortunately, this work has not been progressed, as anticipated.
- 45. Although a set of overarching pan-Staffordshire principles have been agreed, Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent are adopting different methodologies to develop this work area.
- 46. For some time, the Education Safeguarding Lead for Staffordshire, has been working closely with Staffordshire schools (Designated Safeguarding Leads) in relation to PSHE. This includes identifying areas of need, gaps in provision and supporting schools to address these.
- 47. As part of Section 175/157 Education Act (2002) obligations, schools were consulted with via a Safeguarding Children Education Audit Tool. The Audit findings have been collated and an Education Audit Report has been written (April 2015-March 2016). The report outlines feedback from schools regarding this work area and a recommendation about future work.
- 48. As a clear picture of PSHE delivery across Staffordshire could not be ascertained, it was agreed that a piece of work was undertaken to scope current provision and delivery to identify gaps and recommendations. This commenced in February 2018 and a draft of the final report has recently been completed. This report will be taken to the Families Strategic Partnership Executive (FPEG) for approval and recommendations regarding next steps agreed. It is likely that this will include the development and implementation of a multi-agency action plan to progress this work.

Youth Produced Sexual Imagery (Sexting)

49. Youth produced sexual imagery (sexting) can be defined as images or videos generated by children under the age of 18 that are of a sexual nature or are considered to be indecent. These images may be shared between children and young people and/or

- 50. The phrase "youth produced sexual imagery" is now used instead of sexting to describe the practice because:
 - a. "Youth produced" includes young people sharing images that they or another young person have created themselves.
 - b. "Sexual" is clearer than "indecent". A judgment of whether something is "decent" is both a value judgment and dependent on context.
 - c. "Imagery" covers both still photos and moving videos
- 51. Many young people do not see anything wrong with creating and sharing these images; and often consider it to be part of a "normal" relationship; however, it is a crime to take, make, permit to take, distribute, show, possess, possess with intent to distribute or to advertise indecent images of any person below the age of 18. It is important to remember that whilst in UK law a child can legally consent to sex at 16, the law is clear that any indecent images of under 18's are always classified as illegal material.
- 52. It is the responsibility of every parent or carer and professional to understand this issue themselves and to help young people to be aware of the risks. As a result of this emerging risk we have produced a webpage for anyone to access on the SSCB website and on the Knowaboutcse.co.uk website. These webpages contain a number of resources that can be used to help family members and professionals to explain the implications of sexting. However, the SSCB partnership are aware that sexting is an issue that children and young people are increasingly facing locally and it is becoming an increasing area of concern.
- 53. In November 2017 police forces in England and Wales released data showing they registered 6,238 sexting offences in 2016/17, a rate of 17 every day. The College of Policing followed these statistics by publishing guidance for police officers responding to cases of young people producing and sharing sexual images of themselves or others (sexting). This advice relates to young people voluntarily creating and sharing images with one another. It advises police forces to use the 'outcome 21' recording code to note that a crime has been committed, but that it is not considered to be in the public interest to take criminal action against the people involved. The aim of this is to help to provide a proportionate response to sexting, to reduce stigma and reduce the risk of criminalising children and young people; in 2016/17 police forces in England and Wales recorded over 2000 uses of the outcome.
- 54. In September 2017 Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Safeguarding Children Boards published a revised joint guidance document around responding to Youth Produced Sexual Imagery. Available via both Board websites the document applies to all agencies working with children and young people; including (but not limited to) schools, early years settings, youth hubs, libraries, early help and preventative services.

For the Whole World to See

55. In addition, the 'Say No to Sexting' campaign (implemented as part of the wider 'Know About CSE' campaign) was implemented and was successful in reducing

the number of young people who believe that sexting is a normal and part of a healthy relationship. The approach to impacting on sexting in Staffordshire was recognised nationally when John Wood, joint Chair of the Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Safeguarding Children Board, presented the approach at a national conference.

- 56. Burton and South Derbyshire College worked with the SSCB to produce a short film that would raise young people's awareness of sexting. Young people at the college were asked to produce a film that would appeal to young people from year 7 to year 11, to highlight what sexting actually was, the implications of sending indecent images to other people and that it is an illegal practice. The final version of the film was shared in December 2015 has been extremely well received by professionals and young people with over 2,100 visitors during the initial 'Say No to Sexting' campaign; it has also been requested nationally. To view the SSCB sexting webpage please go to: www.staffsscb.org.uk/Training/Learning-resources/Sexting. This content is due for review in December 2018, when a review will be led by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator, it is planned that any new materials will be live April 2019.
- 57. Following the publication of the revised guidance around youth produced sexual imagery, the commissioning of a pan Staffordshire CSE and Missing Service and the revision of the CSE Risk Factor Matrix. A full review of all content held within the Know about CSE website is currently underway. Led by Staffordshire County Council communications team and the Joint Strategic CSE coordinator, the review will assess the efficacy of all materials and content; and will seek children, young people and parents' views to ensure content meets need and is easily accessible.

Learning and improvement

- 58. A series of Joint Targeted Area Inspections and Local Authority Targeted Inspections by Ofsted focusing on child sexual exploitation and children missing from home school or education took place in 2016. Ofsted's thematic report 'Time to Listen- a joined up response to child sexual exploitation and missing children' details findings from the inspections and was published in September 2016. An Executive Summary of this report was shared across the LSCB partnerships.
- 59. As a result of the Ofsted thematic learning it was acknowledged that further work needed to be done to help practitioners to understand the role of CSAF. As a result, a 'One-minute guide' in relation to CSE and CSAF was developed and disseminated to frontline managers and practitioners; this guide is regularly reviewed by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator, most recently updated in May 2018 and is available via the SSCB website.

https://www.staffsscb.org.uk/Aboutus/Priorites-2012-2013/Child-sexual-abuse/Child-sexual-exploitation.aspx

An update of the work progressed by Staffordshire Police

- 60. There are now two Staffordshire Police teams responding to the issue of CSE:
 - a. The On-street Child Exploitation Team; and
 - b. The On-line Child Sexual Exploitation Team (working as Operation Safenet)
- 61. Funding for Preventing CSE Team concluded in March 2017 and this team is no longer in existence. However, as of 1st September 2017, Catch 22 are now providing support and guidance to the wider children's workforce around delivery of lower level CSE prevention interventions as well as dealing with all missing children return interviews (formerly undertaken by Base 58).

Operation Safenet

62. The team is comprised of a Detective Sergeant, six Detective Constables and an Investigative Officer and tackles all aspects of online abuse. Operation Safenet (On-line Child Sexual Exploitation) is a team of officers who are both proactive and reactive in dealing with on line child sexual exploitation. The team proactively targets groups or individuals who are seeking to distribute indecent images of children and those who are grooming children online in order to meet them to commit further sexual offences. The team work closely with regional, national and international law enforcement agencies sharing intelligence to safeguard victims and bring offenders to justice. The team also provide the lead for the force around the increasing number of so called "online vigilante" or "paedophile hunter" incidents.

On Street Child Exploitation Team (CET)

63. The on street CSE investigative team comprises of a Detective Inspector, two Detective Sergeants, twelve Detective Constables and an Investigative Officer. Two social workers (from each authority) are attached to the team.

Abduction Notices

- 64. There have been 68 abduction notices issued to individuals harbouring children in Staffordshire between April 2017 and March 2018.
- 65. These can be a useful deterrent for both young people and adults harbouring a child. Consideration is always given to this approach during risk management strategy meetings (missing meetings). This information is now being shared with children's services. The table below breaks this information down monthly:

Year 2017/18	Date	Number of notices
Qtr 1	Apr – 17	5
	May – 17	7
	Jun – 17	2

Qtr 2	Jul – 17	0
	Aug – 17	2
	Sep – 17	5
Qtr 3	Oct - 17	1
	Nov – 17	0
	Dec – 17	2
Qtr 4	Jan – 18	1
	Feb – 18	3
	Mar – 18	0

Joint Operations

- 66. Operation Linear and Operation Shade have now concluded and a multi-agency debrief has been held by Staffordshire police. A Joint Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent scoping panel meeting was held in October 2016 to consider multi-agency learning from nineteen of the children involved in the two police operations. The meeting was well attended by partner agencies and learning was immediately identified and shared. The terms of reference for this review were subsequently agreed and a nationally respected independent reviewer was appointed to lead on this review; quality input is also being provided by a Professor of Young People and Public Policy at the University of Bedfordshire. The learning review is now complete and is due to go to the SCR sub-group for final approval.
- 67. Work to coordinate the revision of the Joint LSCB Organised and Complex Child Abuse Investigation policy and procedure has been achieved. This document incorporates learning arising from the scoping panel and from the management of the investigation and parallel proceedings, to help improve the coordination of any further inter-agency complex abuse incident. A Joint LSCB Consent briefing was also developed as part of the learning process, to help practitioners to have a greater understanding about CSE and consent.
- 68. As previously reported, in November 2016 after twelve weeks of evidence, the trial of four men charged with a total of twenty-three offences concluded. Three men were convicted of sexual offences against four girls and one was cleared by the jury. A Jury at Stafford Crown Court heard how the girls, aged between 14 and 16, were all abused between 2012 and 2015. The three men were subsequently sentenced to periods of imprisonment of 10 years, 33 months and 16 months respectively.
- 69. All SSCB partners and Staffordshire County Council members were advised of the outcome of the court case on the day the trial concluded.
- 70. More recently the CET were responsible for securing a total period of imprisonment of over eighteen years for four male offenders who offended against four girls who were aged between thirteen and fourteen (at the time) in Burton. Operation Cinnamon was a successful joint operation with Staffordshire County Council Children's Services which drew upon elements of learning that had arisen from the earlier Operation Shade and demonstrated the close and effective relationship between the Police and partner agencies in tackling CSE.

71. Staffordshire Police have taken the decision to create a new county wide team which sees the Child Exploitation Team merge with Child Protection officers (who were previously working within the CID). The team will be re branded as the Child Protection & Exploitation Team. The aspiration of this new unit will be to provide a dedicated and consistent response to child abuse and exploitation across the county led by two Detective Inspectors and a Detective Chief Inspector who have extensive child protection experience. The new team is expected to be up and running by June/July 2018.

An update on the work progressed by Families First

- 72. Multi-agency CSE Panels continue to be chaired by the county managers from the specialist safeguarding service and continue to operate in the following areas on a bi-monthly basis:
 - a. Newcastle/Moorlands
 - b. Stafford/South Staffs/Cannock
 - c. East Staffs (Burton/Uttoxeter)
 - d. Tamworth/Lichfield
- 73. The panel is currently subject to annual review (the third), which will be completed by the end of April 2018. As part of this review it is important to assess that the panels continue to offer an environment whereby the incidence of CSE for each given district can be discussed and further disrupted using a multi-agency response from partner agencies. Work in this area has seen rapid development over the last twelve months and the response of partner agencies has been enormously important to these developments and the progress that has been made.
- 74. In order to manage the increasing numbers, the efficiency and effectiveness of the panels this was considered as part of the second annual review. Recommendations were made and agreed by the multi-agency group including ensuring there is management oversight from the panels chairs whereby children who have been presented to panel on 3 consecutive occasions with no reduction of risk to be reviewed by the county managers. Further work is being undertaken to track this contingency measure and also to consider the number of times cases are re-referred to panel to consider effectiveness of interventions.
- 75. Further emphasis has been placed on ensuring that the Risk Factor Matrix for CSE is completed and regularly reviewed as part of the child's current plan and that there is team manager oversight of this. There has been a clear improvement in compliance with the use of the Risk Factor Matrix and this has been aided by a second round of multi-agency workshops being delivered with support from Catch 22, the CSE commissioned service which to date, have received very positive feedback.
- 76. The way in which Panel data is collated has been amended to enable a CSE report card to be formulated following each CSE Panel round, which details all of the data alongside locality information (including hotspots and themes/trends;

- good practice and any issues for strategic oversight). This is shared internally with senior managers and is also distributed at CSE Panel so partners are able to recognise further areas of activity for local development. In addition to the bimonthly report card, the annual CSE Data Report is due to be completed to cover April 2017-April 2018.
- 77. The Six-monthly Data Report (May 2017-October 2017) has been completed and 165 young people were identified as being victims of child sexual exploitation at low, medium or high levels within the panel. This is an increase of 19% (24 young people) compared to the same period last year. The majority, 89% (147) of young people identified as being at risk from child sexual exploitation at the Initial Panel were girls; just under half (80) are 15 and 16-year olds; there has been an increase of twelve-year olds (10 this year compared to six last year) and thirteen-year olds (22 this year compared to 8 last year) being presented at Panels. 18 of the children presented are boys, which is an increase of 4 compared to the same period last year.
- 78. Data from the CSE panel indicates that most young people, 133 (82%) discussed live in the family home, a further 16 (10%) live in residential placements (6 children from other LAs and 2 Staffordshire Looked After Children placed out of County), 7 live in supported accommodation and 7 are in a foster placements.
- 79. Panels remain well attended and additional partner agencies have started to attend and are proving critical in supporting locality information. Following each district CSE Panel information that has been gathered at the panel continues to be shared with all Families First staff and partner agencies regarding; areas that young people are known to congregate where CSE is a concern, areas where substance and alcohol misuse occurs, areas where anti-social behaviour is common and known safer areas where young people may also congregate. This information sharing extends to inclusion of locality information within the Virtual School Bag which is shared with Schools across Staffordshire.
- 80. It is still felt that this locality knowledge will assist practitioners in becoming more adept at spotting the signs associated with the risk of CSE. Positive feedback continues to be received from both practitioners internally and external partner agencies as a result of this information being shared. There has been a noted increase in meaningful interventions to tackle disruption as a result of actions agreed by the CSE Panels. It is however noted that the continuing increase in the numbers of cases presented to panel due to increased awareness and identification has meant that the panels have a lot of information to consider, so work is needed to continue to develop this approach further. For example, further utilising Civil Injunctions is a potentially effective means of disrupting CSE and is an activity Panel can advise on.
- 81. Staffordshire have now completed the third annual review of the CSE Panels, completed by the Families First CSE Coordinator. The review seeks feedback from partners as part of its process. The findings from this review will be shared with partners and used to continue to identify gaps and further develop the CSE Panel process. This activity is underpinned by the CSE Outcomes Framework

- which is an objective of the SSCB CSE action plan that is being coordinated by the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator.
- 82. The Families First CSE Coordinator continues to attend the Stoke-on-Trent CSE Panel and the Stoke CSE Social Worker will attend the Newcastle and Moorlands CSE Panel where possible in order to ensure that cross borders issues are identified and shared. The Families First CSE Coordinator continues to share information with other Local Authority CSE Coordinators equivalents regarding Staffordshire looked after children placed out of area and any locality knowledge and hotspots we become aware of to support the disruption of CSE in other areas. The panel also discuss any Out of County Looked after Children placed in Staffordshire we become aware of and ensures their allocated worker is invited to attend or share information
- 83. A strategy was developed to consider post 18 young people known to Families First felt to be at risk of sexual exploitation. It has been identified we need to further develop CSE support for this age group and at present they have continued to be discussed at CSE panels in order to continue gathering victim/offender/location details. This is linked to the Community Safety Hubs as appropriate. It is recognised that children, when they reach 18 do not cease to be vulnerable and as vulnerable adults they can still be sexually exploited.
- 84. There is a process if place whereby the CSE Panel links to other local district meetings in respect of wider vulnerability issues. This includes the anti-social behaviour meetings, YOS Re-offending panel and links have been made to share information with the Integrated Offender Managers (IOM's) in Staffordshire where issues regarding wider criminal exploitation are recognised.
- 85. The learning from the complex abuse investigations (Operation Linear and Operation Shade) has been disseminated to Families First practitioners alongside partner agencies, including direct anonymised feedback from one of the victims which has highlighted the need to ensure the child's perspective of investigation when making decisions. This learning has also been shared with workforce development.
- 86. The CSE panels continue to cross reference cases where consideration of a referral being made to the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) under the Modern Day Slavery Legislation may be required. There has been progress in extending practitioner's understanding of trafficking as an aspect of CSE which threatens young people within Staffordshire and consequently, referrals have now been made with the local authority as a first responder seeking advice and guidance from the Modern Day Slavery lead at Staffordshire Police. A separate update for the Modern Slavery scrutiny report has been provided. A good practice guide was developed for practitioners in order to promote the awareness of the duty to refer to the NRM and how to refer.
- 87. The CSE panels continue to cross reference cases where consideration of a referral being made to the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) under the Modern Day Slavery Legislation may be required. There has been progress in extending practitioner's understanding of trafficking as an aspect of CSE which threatens

young people within Staffordshire and consequently, referrals have now been made with the local authority as a first responder seeking advice and guidance from the Modern Day Slavery lead at Staffordshire Police. A separate update for the Modern Slavery scrutiny report has been provided. A good practice guide was developed for practitioners in order to promote the awareness of the duty to refer to the NRM and how to refer.

- 88. ECPAT UK was successful in its application to the Home Office Child Trafficking Protection Fund. This funding enabled ECPAT (alongside their contracted partners) to work with four local authorities (two per year) to improve their overall response to child trafficking. Staffordshire County Council was one of the year 1 authorities to be selected. ECPAT is the lead organisation but they subcontracted the physical audit to Cordis Bright Ltd. Key activities included; an audit of case files; an audit of policies and procedures; a survey of staff; a 360-degree style survey of partners; youth consultation; bespoke training package; a summary findings report.
- 89. The purpose of the project is to review how Staffordshire County Council (SCC) manages potential child trafficking cases. The benefits of the project to SCC and to our service users will be that we will receive input into our current practice with regards trafficking concerns. We will also receive expertise in managing and processing trafficking referrals in the most appropriate way based on national research and learning.
- 90. The panels continue to cross reference children who are missing via the missing coordinator as well as cross referencing children with the missing education officer. This cross-matching data is shared within panels as it is recognised there are clear links between missing from home, missing from education and CSE.
- 91. CAMHS are now a consistent panel member for all of our district panels. This has been especially informative and it had been recognised as learning from the complex abuse investigations that there is a clear over-representation of CSE victims being known to CAMHS.
- 92. The Strategic Lead for Specialist Safeguarding, Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator and Families First CSE Coordinator continue to be involved in the regional CSE strategic governance group (SGG) in response to the Regional problem profile and contribute to the action plan which supports this with partners.
- 93. The Families First CSE Coordinator continues to attend the YOS Re-offending Panel that takes place on a monthly basis in order to cross reference children who offend who are felt to be at risk of CSE in Staffordshire.
- 94. The Families First CSE Coordinator continues to attend both the operational and strategic Missing Overview Boards. The Strategic Overview Board is also attended by the Specialist Safeguarding Development Manager which strengthens links between missing children, CSE, abductions and trafficking. These LA Officers and the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator additionally attend meetings with Commissioners and the Catch 22 CSE/Missing service which is operational across the whole of Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent.

- 95. The Families First CSE Coordinator continues to attend the Staffordshire Police CSE/Missing Force Working Group on a monthly basis where there is a discussion regarding the overview of CSE Panels, themes and wider issues pertaining to CSE.
- 96. It was agreed that the Families First CSE Action Planning Meetings will now cease as a formalised meeting as the actions in the plan are now business as usual. If meetings are needed for future targeted pieces of work, task and finish groups should be arranged as and when required. An annual meeting will be scheduled to check new actions for year for all interested parties to join and contribute to meeting. Remaining elements of the plan will be monitored by the Families First CSE Coordinator and progress reported up to the Strategic Lead for Safeguarding.
- 97. A tracker continues to be used for teams to complete which includes all low, medium and high-risk cases. This will be completed by teams bi-monthly in line with collating cases to be referred to CSE Panel. Wider partner agencies are also able to refer cases of medium/high risk directly to CSE Panel via the Families First CSE Coordinator.
- 98. The County Manager for Specialist Safeguarding Service continues to attend strategic meetings regarding gangs, youth violence and vulnerability and also chairs the CSE panel.
- 99. The Families First CSE Coordinator and Specialist Safeguarding Manager continue to be copied into all referrals whereby CSE is an identified risk indicator. This allows for further oversight of decision making at the front door and provides the advice and support of the FF CSE Co-ordinator as a single point of contact. There has been an increase in referrals to the CSE Panel as a result of this oversight and practitioner support as practitioners are reminded at the early stages of referral of the need to consider use of the Risk Factor Matrix and referral to CSE Panel.
- 100. Learning from recent joint investigations with Staffordshire Police into cases of CSE has been progressed with Families First practitioners as part of the learning and development schedule.
- 101. Work is ongoing to ensure that the CSE RFM and CSE panel minutes are recorded on files and there is now a client risk indicator saved to each child's file where they have been presented to CSE Panel to highlight past and current CSE concerns. This is in addition to risk indicators being added to files where an individual has been served with a Child Abduction Warning Notice and also if a victim has been linked to an individual where one has been served. Feedback of this is that it has enabled clear connections to be made between victims and offenders.
- 102. The Families First CSE Coordinator, Specialist Safeguarding Development Manager and Strategic Lead for Safeguarding continue to scrutinise national developments with regards to practice with children who are sexually exploited or

- at risk of such and regularly review the internal action plan to ensure our strategy and approaches are informed by contemporary learning.
- 103. There has now been a successful result obtained in respect of Operation Cinnamon, a joint CSE investigation between Staffordshire County Council and Staffordshire Police involving children from the East Staffordshire (Burton) area. The investigation originated from a phone call from one of the female victim's father after they had watched an educational CSE video on YouTube and she had disclosed that she had been a victim of abuse. As the investigation progressed, 3 x additional female victims were also identified and jointly visited by both Police and Children's Social Care
- 104. The 4 victims identified ranged in age from 13-14 years old at the time of the offences and all had attended the same school. It is of note that the school also had students who were siblings to the alleged offenders attending as well as some of the alleged offenders themselves being enrolled at the connected sixth Form college. Staffordshire Police, Social Care and Education have worked closely during the investigation with regular strategy meetings being called. The meetings were chaired by the County Manager for Specialist Safeguarding and also attended by the Families First CSE Coordinator.
- 105. In addition to this further work is being completed with the school by the FF CSE Co-Ordinator alongside the Commissioned CSE Service to further support children within the school affected by CSE.
- 106. On the 9th February 2018, after the trial had started, all of the offenders pleaded guilty to 22 counts of sexual offences against children prior to any of the child victims being called to give evidence. In total, the four offenders received custodial sentences totalling 18 years. A full multi-agency de-brief will be co-ordinated and chaired by Staffordshire Police and the learning taken will further inform Targeted CSE work across the county.

Update on work progressed by Commissioning Services

- 107. As of 1st September 2017, Catch22 has provided the Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and missing children service for Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire. The service operates across the county and is co-located with multi-agency teams within Staffordshire districts. There are three teams located in the following areas:
 - a. Stoke on Trent
 - b. North Staffordshire and Stafford
 - c. South and East Staffordshire
- 108. The service provides:
 - a. Early intervention support for young people and their families assessed as low risk, to help increase their resilience and prevent needs from escalating
 - b. A relationship-based approach where the professional who has the best relationship with the child will be supported by the service to deliver the work (this approach will be predominantly with low level cases)

- Targeted support for children, young people and their families assessed as medium and high risk, to support them to change their behaviours and increase protective factors
- d. Return interviews of missing children and young people in line with DfE Statutory Guidance on children who run away or go missing from home or care. The interview will focus on early prevention, intervention and targeted support in order to protect children and young people from the consequences of going missing
- 109. During the first quarter of delivery the service has also concentrated on building local relationships and raising awareness of the service at a local level. This has been achieved by attending a variety of strategic and operational multi-agency meetings/forums, attending the CSE panels and by also providing presentations to health colleagues at NHS Safeguarding events and as part of the Safeguarding Children Board training events. Five volunteers have successfully been recruited to the service; this will provide additional support and resilience to delivery.

Highlights from the first quarter performance data below:

Missing Service (Staffordshire)

- a. 515 Missing notifications received
- b. 237 Number of individuals
- c. 267 Number of return interviews completed
- d. Associating with friends is the highest factor associated with children and young people going missing

CSE Service (Staffordshire)

- a. 44 Referrals received
- b. Risk ratings 7 High risk, 18 medium risk and 23 low risk
- 110. The CSE Joint Commissioning Group has oversight of the Catch22 contract and related performance data. Membership includes Staffordshire County Council, Stoke-on-Trent City Council, Office of Police and Crime Commissioner, Staffordshire Police, Public Health and the Joint Strategic CSE Coordinator.

Update on CSE and Licensing

- 111. The Transport and Safeguarding Policy and process were updated in December 2017 and widely distributed to contracted operators.
- 112. The DBS and safeguarding process was introduced in 2016 for contracted staff working on home to school transport "regulated activity", the figures below relate to applicants who hold on of the following licences: taxi, private hire vehicle (PHV) or public carriage vehicle (PCV)
 - a. Number of DBS applicants 3287
 - b. Number of SCC trained, approved and badged 2495
 - c. Applicants with DBS traces 518

- d. Refusals 148
- e. Appeals 39
- 113. As the select committee will be aware a lot of work has been ongoing with district and borough councils across Staffordshire in terms of training, policy and procedure. At the present time an inter authority audit is ongoing and an update will be provided verbally to the select committee from officers engaged within the audit.

Link to Strategic Plan – Feel safer, happier and more supported in and by their community.

Link to Other Overview and Scrutiny Activity – Papers have previously been discussed at Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee on 26th September 2017, 16th January 2017, 12th December 2016, 8th June 2016, 18th January 2016, 6th October 2015, 10th June 2015, 9th March 2015, 15th December 2014.

Report Author

Name and Job Title: Lynne Milligan, SSCB Interim Board Manager

Telephone No.: 01785 854572

Address/e-mail: lynne.milligan@staffordshire.gov.uk

Contact Officer

Name and Job Title: Michael Harrison, Commissioner for Safety, Children and

Families

Telephone No.: 01785 278163

Address/e-mail: michael.harrison@staffordshire.gov.uk

Appendices/Background papers

Update on work to address Child Sexual Exploitation (26th September 2017)
Update on work to address Child Sexual Exploitation (16th January 2017)
Update on work to address Child Sexual Exploitation (8th June 2016)
Update on work to address Child Sexual Exploitation (18th January 2015)
Update on work addressing Child Sexual Exploitation (6th October 2015)
Update on work addressing Child Sexual Exploitation (10th June 2015)
Update on work to address Child Sexual Exploitation (9th March 2015)
Child Sexual Exploitation (15th December 2014)



WORK PROGRAMMESafe and Strong Communities Select Committee 2018/19

This document sets out the work programme for the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee for 2018/19. The Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee is responsible for scrutinising: children and adults' safeguarding; community safety and Localism. The Council has three priority outcomes. This Committee is aligned to the outcome: The people of Staffordshire will feel safer, happier and more supported in and by their community.

We review our work programme at every meeting. Sometimes we change it - if something comes up during the year that we think we should investigate as a priority. Our work results in recommendations for the County Council and other organisations about how what they do can be improved, for the benefit of the people and communities of Staffordshire.

Councillor John Francis

Chairman of the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee
If you would like to know more about our work programme, please get in touch with Tina Gould, Scrutiny and Support Manager on 01785 276148 or by emailing tina.gould@staffordshire.gov.uk

Membership - County Councillors 2018-19

John Francis (Chairman) Conor Wileman (Vice Chairman)

Ann Beech

Mike Davies

Syed Hussain

Trevor Johnson

Jason Jones

Natasha Pullen

Paul Snape

Mike Worthington

Calendar of Committee Meetings 2018-2019

23 April 2018 at 11.00 am Special meeting with the PCC & Chief Constable

8 June 2018 at 10.00 am

10 July 2018 at 10.00 am

3 September 2018 at 10.00 am

8 November 2018 at 10.00 am

11 December 2018 at 10.00 am

14 January 2019 at 10.00 am

4 March 2019 at 10.00 am

Meetings usually take place in the Oak Room in County Buildings.

		Work Programme 20	18-19
Date of meeting	Item	Details	Action/Outcome
Extra meeting 23 April NB meeting starts at 11.00 am	Safeguarding concerns over the Rise in Crime PCC – Matthew Ellis Chief Constable – Gareth Morgan	Following concerns raised at the 15 January Select Committee and discussions at the 10 January Triangulation meeting the Chairman requested all Members of the Council forward details of crime and safeguarding issues within their area with a view to this Select Committee meeting with the PCC and Chief Constable to address these safeguarding concerns.	The Chief Constable Gareth Morgan and the Police and Crime Commissioner Matthew Ellis responded to the questions raised by member around: • contact services, including call handling, emergency 999 calls, 101 calls and incident resources; • overall crime performance, acquisitive crime, violence against the person, public order and drug related offences; • use of body cams; • police and PCSO visibility; • PCSO powers; • Mutual aid deployment; • Cross boarder crime; • Motorway policing; • Crewing of police vehicles; and • Local issues.
8 June 2018 	Children's Centres 3 years on Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Lead Officer: Mick Harrison	At the Select Committee meeting of 5 March 2018 it was agreed that the Children's Commissioning Officer should attend the June meeting to update Members on progress since the Children's Centres Working Group 4 years ago.	A working group will be set up to consider the current work of the Children's centres in comparison with the findings of the 2014 Select Committee Review and the impact of the significant changes made as a result of the 2014/15 Best Start in Life consultation.
0	Inquiry Group Report on Elective Home Education	Following a referral from the Corporate Parenting Panel a review group set up conflated with members of the Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee. Its first meeting was held on 12 January where Members received a briefing from officers. Further meetings were held, including the inquiry session scheduled for 21 March. The final report and recommendations will be considered by the Select Committee in readiness for forwarding to the Cabinet Member for his executive response.	The Select Committee congratulated the Review Group on their report and endorsed both the report and its recommendations for submission to the Cabinet Member. As this had been a joint review submission would be after the Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee had considered the report.
10 July 2018 10.00 am	Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Staffordshire, to include progress against the CSAF Action Plan Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Officer: Mick Harrison	The Committee has requested a six monthly update on this issue. The Chair of the Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Committee at Stoke City Council has been invited to attend this meeting and this arrangement is reciprocated.	

	Provision of "places of safety" under section 136 MHA. Cabinet Member – Alan White Lead Officer – Jo Sutherland	Following the Triangulation meeting of 10 January the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health, Care and Wellbeing asked the select Committee to consider undertaking an overview of the current provision of places of safety. A few years ago there had been circumstances where prison cells were being used, which was agreed as inappropriate. A review to assess the current provision was requested.	
3 September 2018 10.00 am	Customer Feedback & Complaints, Adult Social Care Annual Report 17/18 Cabinet Member: Alan White Officer: Kate Bullivant	Adult's Services have a statutory obligation to submit an Annual Report on complaints and representations to the relevant County Council Committee.	
Page 31	Customer Feedback & Complaints, Children's Social Care Annual Report 17/18 Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Officer: Kate Bullivant	Children's Services have a statutory obligation to submit an Annual Report on complaints and representations to the relevant County Council Committee.	
	Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Cabinet Member: Alan White Officer: Peter Hampton	Last considered at their meeting of November 2017 where Members noted the difficulties with the number of referrals and the need to prioritise assessments. They had concerns that this meant the Council was effectively in breech of the law, but within the resource available they accepted this as the only current solution. (Previously considered by this Select Committee in July & November 2017)	
8 November 2018 10.00am	Missing Children Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Lead Officer:	Suggested at the 29 May Triangulation meeting. To look at missing children in the broader sense, not just CSE.	
	Trading Standards, Rogue Traders & Doorstep Crime Cabinet Member: Gill Heath Lead Officer: Trish Caldwell	Suggested at the10 January & 29 May Triangulation meeting. Consider the safeguarding issues following the service review in 2018.	
	MISPERS Cabinet Member	Suggested for inclusion on the work programme at the 10 January Triangulation.	

	Lead Officer		
11 December 2019 10.00am	Domestic Abuse, Domestic Homicide Reviews & emerging themes Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton and Alan White Officer: Mick Harrison	To consider possible themes emerging from an overview of these reviews and considering these from both an adult and children's safeguarding view point. (suggested at the 29 may Triangulation).	
14 January 2019 10.00am	Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Staffordshire, to include progress against the CSAF Action Plan Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Officer: Mick Harrison	The Committee has requested a six monthly update on this issue. The Chair of the Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Committee at Stoke City Council has been invited to attend this meeting and this arrangement is reciprocated. (Last considered at 10 July Select Committee meeting).	
Page 32	Staffordshire & Stoke- on-Trent Adult Safeguarding Partnership Board Cabinet Member: Alan White Independent Chair: John Wood	This is reported to committee on an annual basis.	
	Staffs Safeguarding Children's Board (SSCB) Annual Report 2016/17 Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Independent Chair: John Wood	This is reported to committee on an annual basis.	
4 March 2019 10.00am	Children's & Families System Transformation & update on Pilot Projects Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Officer: Mick Harrison/Helen Riley/ Janene Cox	The Transformation programme for Children and Family Services has previously been considered by this Select Committee on 8 June, 8 July & 12 December 2016 & 13 July 2017 and 5 March 2018.	
	Youth Offending service	Consideration of the YOS Review	

	Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton		
	Officer: Vonni Gordon		
tbc	Healthwatch use of powers under 2012 Act Cabinet Member: Alan White Lead Officer	Suggested at the 29 May Triangulation meeting. Seeking to identify if Healthwatch use their "enter and view" powers under the 2012 Act	
tbc	Short breaks for children with disabilities Cabinet Member – Mark Sutton Lead Officer -	Suggested for inclusion on the work programme at the 10 January Triangulation. Consideration to be given to solutions to drive the cost down.	
tbc	Independent Futures and Disability Team Cabinet Member: Lead Officer:	Suggested for inclusion on the work programme at the 10 January Triangulation.	
⊕ age 33	Direct Payments Cabinet Member: Alan White Lead Officer: Andrew Jepps	Following the 15 January consideration of Home Care Members requested an item on Direct Payments to clarify how the system worked.	
tbc	Stresses within mental health service Cabinet Member: Lead officer:	Suggested at the 29 May Triangulation meeting	
tbc	Insurance potential barriers to the People Helping people Programme Cabinet Member: Lead Officer:	Suggested at the 29 May Triangulation. Consideration of insurance difficulties that can act as a barrier to the people helping people programme	
tbc	Care Homes Quality Assurance data Cabinet Member: Alan White Lead Officer: Andrew Sharp	Suggested at the 29 may Triangulation	
tbc	Quarter performance update against Safeguarding Indicators Cabinet Member: Lead Officer: Andrew Sharp	Suggested at the 29 May Triangulation	

tbc	Themes emerging	Suggested at the 29 May Triangulation	
	from Serious Case		
	Reviews		
	Cabinet Member: Mark		
	Sutton		
	Lead Officer: Richard		
	Hancock		
tbc	MTFS Reforms and	Suggested at the 29 May Triangulation meeting.	
	assessing the "no		
	impact claims"		
	Cabinet Member:		
	Lead Officer:		

	Briefing Notes/Updates/Visits 2018-19					
Date	Date Item Details Action/Outcome					

Page 3

4	Working Group and/or Inquiry Days 2018-19			
Date	Item	Details	Action/Outcome	
Inquiry Day 30 January 2018 + follow-on meetings on 12 February 13 March	Preventing Children coming into Care- now called "Edge of Care" Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Officer: Richard Hancock	This item was initially proposed by the Commissioner for Community Safety, Children and Families. The Chairman has met with the Head of Families First and a scoping report has been prepared for Members' consideration.	The 30 January Inquiry has been held. A further Member meeting on 12 February identified a range of further information they required. This detail will be presented by Officer at the 13 March meeting.	
June and July 2018	Children's Centres – 4 years on Cabinet Member: Mark Sutton Officer: Mick Harrison	Three years ago the Select Committee completed work to assess the role of the Children's Centre. Three years on the Select Committee will re-visit this work, visiting the Centres to assess the current situation in comparison with the findings of the original working group report.	At the Select Committee meeting of 26 November Members agreed to a request that this review be put back until the current significant changes within Children's Centres were completed. At the 8 June Select Committee Members agreed to set up this working group, with Members visiting the Centres before the end of the 2018 summer term.	

12 January	Elective Home	Referral from Corporate Parenting Panel – August	A review group has been set up jointly with members of the
31 January	Education	2017 (NB – also referred to Prosperous	Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee. Its first meeting was held
21 March		Staffordshire Select Committee)	on 12 January where Members received a briefing from officers. A
Reporting to 8		,	,

June 2018 Select Committee	planning meeting was held on 31 January with the inquiry session on 21 March. The Inquiry Group then compiled their report and recommendations which were submitted to the 8 June Select
	Committee for their comment and/or endorsement.

Cu	rrent & Related W	ork of Select Committees and/	or All Party Member Groups 2018-19
Timescale	Area of Work	Details	Action/Outcome
30 May 2018 Special joint meeting	All Age Disability Strategy Cabinet Member: Alan White Officer: Martyn Baggaley	The Healthy Staffordshire Select Committee has the All Age Disability Strategy on their work programme with the original intention that this issue would be considered by them and their findings shared. However it has now been agreed that this will be considered at a special joint meeting between Healthy Staffordshire, Prosperous Staffordshire and the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committees on 30 May 2018.	Detailed scrutiny took place at the joint meeting with the thoughts, questions, concerns and comments of members at the Meeting being taken into consideration by the authors and Cabinet Members in the preparation of the final version of the Whole Life Disability Strategy 2018-2023
September (2017 - June (2 ₀₁₈ ယ	Children's mental health & wellbeing Cabinet Member: Alan White Officers: Tilly Flannigan & Divya Patel APMG Membership Keith Flunder (Chair) Johnny McMahon Bernard Peters Ron Clarke Bryan Jones Ann Edgeller	Innovation APMG: Terms of Reference 'how to promote children's emotional and mental wellbeing to reduce referrals to specialist services across SCC and other partners, by intervening earlier to ensure better long-term outcomes'	The final report of this APMG is due to be considered by Corporate Review in June 2018.
August 2017 – February 2018	Increasing S3 Capacity Cabinet Member: Gill Heath Officers: Angela Schulp & Adam Rooney APMG Membership Mike Davies (Chair) David Smith Kyle Robinson Maureen Compton Julia Jessel	Community APMG: How do we increase the capacity and utilise the services of S3 to deliver 'People helping people' and reduce the involvement of SCC	The final report of the APMG was considered by Corporate Review on 19 February 2018.

Not for publication by virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972

Document is Restricted